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What are Performance Requirements?

How do we develop requirements in RFP on DB Projects?

What are some Industry  Best Practices re: Requirements 

Development?

How to ask and create a measurable performance outcome ?

How can the Owner get what they want without owning the 

risk?

Is there a place for Prescriptive Requirements on DB  Projects?

What are some drawbacks of Prescriptive Specs?

How to get the best benefits out of Design Build Delivery

KEY QUESTIONS



PROJECT DOCUMENTS
BRIDGING VS. CRITERIA

BRIDGING DOCUMENTS CRITERIA DOCUMENTS

ü Plans, specifications or other 
documents in the RFP that 
prescribe HOW to 
accomplish the owner’s 
criteria requirements

ü Owner is responsible for 
performance and cost of 
changes if resulting  
performance is  not 
acceptable

ü Design details of elements 
assembly and contents, 
layouts and dimensions, and  
specified  products and 
materials

ü Instructions in the RFP that 
describe WHAT the owner 
expects but NOT HOW

ü Design Builder is responsible 
to meet  Owner’s 
established Criteria 
Documents

ü Programming, levels of 
quality, performance 
specifications, standards, 
objectives and other 
measuring  information



BRIDGING DOCUMENTS CRITERIA DOCUMENTS

DEFINITIONS

ü Owner responsible for 
results: Spearin Doctrine

ü Design Builder’s  Means and 
Methods to meet criteria
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ü AKA design Specification, 
Expressed in terms of 
specific product or 
configuration detail 

ü Traditional approach typical 
to design-bid-build 
documents

ü Owner is responsible for 
performance and cost of 
changes if resulting  
performance is  not 
acceptable

ü No room for innovation
ü Requirement is rigid and 

defined in detail: 
Prescriptive à Spearin
Doctrine

ü Expressed in terms of an 
expected outcome or 
acceptable performance 
standard 

ü Includes a measurable 
objective 

ü Design Builder is responsible 
to meet  Owner’s 
established Performance 
requirements 

ü Approach allows the design-
builder to innovate to meet 
requirements

ü Cost effective and time 
efficient, relies on DB’s 
expertise + Means and 
Methods

PROJECT REQUIREMENTS
PRESCRIPTIVE VS. PERFORMANCE

PRESCIPTIVE REQUIREMENTS PERFORMANCE REQUIRMNTS.



PRESCIPTIVE REQUIREMENTS PERFORMANCE REQUIRMNTS.

DEFINITIONS



TYPES AND ALLOCATION OF PROJECT  
REQUIREMENTS

FUNCTIONAL • HIGH LEVEL 
GOALS

PERFORMANCE
• CRITERIA WITH 

MEANSURABLE 
STANDARDS

DESIGN • SPECIFIC AND 
PRESCRIPTIVE



FUNCTIONAL 
REQUIREMENTS 

PERFORMANCE 
REQUIREMENTS 

PRESCRIPTIVE 
REQUIREMENTS 



FUNCTIONAL 
REQUIREMENTS 

PERFORMANCE 
REQUIREMENTS 

PRESCRIPTIVE 
REQUIREMENTS 

 1 5

P E R F O R M A N C E  R E Q U I R E M E N T S

The owner’s project manager and A/E 1 will allocate this functional requirement into many lower-level 
performance requirements within the Uniformat II framework. One example, related to interior construction, 
is depicted in Figure 3 bekiow; the column on the right side of the figure identifies the type of requirement 
and its creator.

Figure 3. Requirements Allocation Example

 It’s A/E 1’s responsibility to ensure that performance requirements are established at the level required 
to satisfy the higher level functional requirements. It’s the responsibility of the design-builder’s A/E 2 to select the 
solution to achieve the required Sound Transmission Class (STC) performance and to specify it for procurement 
and construction. Note that the performance requirement that flowed down from the functional requirement has 
an objective measurable standard — STC 35 (min). When the project is completed, both the owner and design-
builder will be able to determine with certainty whether the contract requirement has been met.

2.4 Drawbacks of Prescriptive Requirements in Design-Build

 The Spearin Doctrine is a long-established legal principle that holds the creator of a contract 
requirement responsible for its efficacy. In a performance-based contract, the owner sets the required level 
of performance and is responsible for it meeting the functional requirements. But since the design-builder 
determines, specifies and constructs the design solution, one of the biggest advantages of performance-
based design-build is that it transfers the risk and accountability for the solution meeting the performance 
requirements from the owner to the design-builder. When prescriptive requirements are included in the RFP, 

 

 Functional Goal:  “Build an office bldg 
on my existing lot to provide office 
space for 1,000 workers.”

UniformatC 10, Interior Construction:
“Provide durable, paintablei nterior 
walls between the offices with STC 
35 (min).”

UniformatC 1010, Partitions: “Install 
gypsum wallboard on 3 5/8” metal 
studs at 16” o.c. with XX acoustical 
insulation per YY Standards.”

Functional requirement
(Stakeholders)

Performance requirement
(A/E 1) 

Design spec
(A/E 2) 

EXAMPLE

EXAMPLE
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� Plain English expressions of 
goals, challenges and 
constraints. 

� Describe at the highest 
possible level the 
stakeholders’ vision of the 
goal 

� Enumerate the issues 
surrounding its successful 
delivery.

� Example: 
� Space Program, project 

budget, occupancy date

FUNCTIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

TYPES OF REQUIREMENTS



� Plain English expressions of 
goals, challenges and 
constraints. 

� Describe at the highest 
possible level the 
stakeholders’ vision of the 
goal 

� Enumerate the issues 
surrounding its successful 
delivery.

� Example: 
� Space Program, project 

budget, occupancy date

FUNCTIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

TYPES OF REQUIREMENTS

Basis of Design     1.0 - 1

        1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Project will provide much needed research space to advance the University's strategic plan.  
The facility will be an important step towards achieving the primary goals of the strategic plan, 
which include substan!al increases in student enrollment and research funding through the hiring 
of new scien!fic research and teaching faculty. The proposed facility will include laboratory and 
related laboratory support spaces, along with research cores that include a Vivarium, office space, 
scholarly ac! vity and interac! ve spaces.  All programma!c spaces will be arranged and designed in 
a manner to support cross-disciplinary collabora!ons while enhancing exis! ng research synergies 
and shared campus resources.

The Project is envisioned to include approximately 142,000 gross square feet of new construc!on, and 
a minimum of 85,825 assignable square footage (ASF).  The building will be located within the 
academic core adjacent to the exis!ng Material Sciences & Engineering Building and the College of 
Engineering.  A key planning element to the building will be its ability to support mul!ple themes of 
research at the intersec!on of Life/Chemical Sciences, Medicine and Engineering.  The Project will be 
a flexible and adaptable building that will allow the accommoda!on of emerging research demands 
over the next several decades.

Project goals:
• Designed to improve faculty recruitment.
• Expand University’s research capabili! es.
• Address current and short-term research space needs.
• Establish a sense of place in the unique  campus se % ng that strengthens the academic 

community.
• Provide adaptable and flexible laboratory, laboratory support, and core facili!es to meet 

evolving research needs.
• Reflect a well-organized and welcoming environment that promotes scien!fic collaboration 

and cross-discipline research in an atmosphere that s!mulates academic scholarship and 
provides opportuni!es for intellectual discourse to a'ract and retain the best faculty, 
graduate students and technical and support personnel. 

PROJECT



� Engineering-oriented 
requirements 

� Professional judgment of the 
performance level required 
to satisfy the stakeholders’ 
functional needs  

� Does not dictate how to 
achieve those needs. 

� Must include an objective, 
measurable standard to 
validate solution

PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 

TYPES OF REQUIREMENTS
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PRESCRIPTIVE REQUIREMENTS 

TYPES OF REQUIREMENTS

� Complete specifications of 
exactly how a product, system 
or component must be built.  

� States Means and Methods 
that are otherwise best left to 
the Expert: the Design Builder 

� Prescriptive requirements 
include design specs and 
drawings and leave little to the 
performer. 

� Represent the designer’s 
professional judgment of the 
solution to a performance 
requirement: Spearin Doctrine 
Exposure

� Potentially driving up 
construction and lifecycle costs
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DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT REQUIREMENTS: 
HOW-TO PROCESS IN RFP 

1. Determine & Prioritize 
Functional Requirements in 

alignment with Owner’s 
budget and schedule 

2. Develop Performance 
Requirements & Draft RFP in 

alignment with Owner’s, budget, 
schedule, and the functional 

requirements

Prescriptive 
Requirements?

Only where and if 
absolutely necessary. 
Understand Risk to 

Owner.

Consolidate 
Performance  

Requirements in 
the RFP 

Documentation 

What is the 
project about, 

goals and 
objectives???



Brainstorm to determine 
goals/constraints/ 

problems

Organize functional 
requirements

Include functional 
requirements in RFQ.RFP

Complete a risk 
assessment

Prioritize functional 
requirements

DEVELOPING REQUIREMENTS

WORKING WITH THE STAKEHOLDERS

� Who’s got an interest in the project?

� Who’s got the money/ power/influence over the 
project?

� Who’s got to live with/operate/maintain the 
completed facility?

� Who can stop you?

� Who can help you?

1. Determine & Prioritize 
Functional Requirements 

in alignment with Owner’s 
budget and schedule 



� What are your goals for project/facility?
� What are the challenges/constraints?
� What are the current issues ?
� What are your biggest project concerns?
� Do we have a common understanding of 

the nature of the facility? Aesthetics?
� New construction? Renovation?
� Site? Project phasing?
� Facility purpose/ operations/activities?
� Nature of building occupancy?
� Special requirements — security, 

organizational standards, etc?
� What’s the project budget? What about 

Schedule: How flexible is it?
� What about life cycle cost?
� What’s the operations and maintenance 

approach? Issues?
� What have we missed?

BRAINSTORMING FUNCTIONAL 
REQUIREMENTS

DEVELOPING REQUIREMENTS



Refine with Uniformat
at Level 2

Select performance 
standards: Code 

requirements adequate?

Determine code+ and/or 
commercial/industrial/ 

organizational standards

Include in the 
requirements document

DETERMINING PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

� American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-
Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE)

� American National Standards Institute (ANSI)
� American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM)
� National Electrical Manufacturers Association 

(NEMA)
� National Fire Protection Association (NFPA)
� National Electrical Code (NEC)
� Sheet Metal and Air Conditioning Contractors’ 

National Association (SMACNA)
� Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers 

(IEEE), etc.

DEVELOPING REQUIREMENTS

2. Develop 
Performance 

Requirements…



� Performance requirements should 
also describe the means of 
substantiation. 

� Through what activity will the 
parties be able to measure 
compliance with the performance 
standard? Evaluation of design 
documentation? Testing? Visual 
examination? Measurement? 
Analysis? 

� Accommodation in Budget and 
Schedule for adequate Testing and 
Inspection to verify compliance 

� Align expectations and ensure the 
design-builder has priced the 
project correctly.

ESTABLISHING MEANS FOR 
SUBSTANTIATION

DEVELOPING REQUIREMENTS



…Consolidate 
Requirements in the 
RFP Documentation

Draft the preamble, 
including the functional 

requirements

Ensure correct code 
invoked in requirements 

document

Group all performance 
requirements by 

Uniformat Level 2

Complete  a quality check 

Produce draft 
requirements document

PRODUCING THE DRAFT RFP

� Are the requirements and evaluation criteria 
written in such a manner that your innovative 
solution can be considered? If not, what changes 
are recommended?

� Are there inconsistencies or conflicts in the 
performance requirements?

� Are there conflicts in the RFP?
� Does the RFP clearly communicate the owner’s 

requirements and priorities?

DEVELOPING REQUIREMENTS



� Introductory narrative
� Include the prioritized functional 

requirements, if they’re not already 
captured in the RFP preamble

� Include any other pertinent background 
information to help offerors put the 
requirements in context

� Applicable documents
� Invoke applicable codes, if necessary
� The performance criteria, grouped by 

Uniformat or other WBS element
� Resist working at a lower level of detail 

(for Uniformat, below Level 2)
� Consider an approach such as the 

SpecLink-E categories to group 
performance criteria within the WBS 
element

OVERVIEW OF PROJECT 
ACQUISITION RFP CONTENT

DEVELOPING REQUIREMENTS



� Is each requirement attainable and 
feasible? Is it possible to construct 
a facility that meets this 
requirement?

� Is each requirement necessary? 
What would/could happen if this 
requirement were not included?

� Is the requirement unambiguous? 
Will all readers give the same 
interpretation?

� Is the requirement traceable from a 
higher-level functional 
requirement? If not, why is it 
included?

� Does the requirement have an 
objective, measurable standard 
and a means of substantiation?

COMPLETING A PROJECT  RFP 
QUALITY CHECK



Re-engage stakeholders to 
review prescriptive 

requirements

Elicit underlying rationale

Vet inclusion of each 
proposed prescriptive 

requirement

Finalize performance 
requirements document

PRESCRIPTIVE REQUIREMENTS IN DESIGN-BUILD 

� With prescriptive requirements, owner transfers 
risk and accountability back to itself 

� It is not a best practice to have substantive 
prescriptive content on a design-build project

� Prescriptive requirements in design- build delivery  
may be  necessary in specific cases and should be 
clearly communicated as such

� Typically, prescriptive content above 10 percent 
seriously diminishes the efficacy and value of 
design-build

DEVELOPING REQUIREMENTS

Prescriptive 
Requirements?



BEST PRACTICE: ACQUISITION STRATEGY

1 0

P E R F O R M A N C E  R E Q U I R E M E N T S

2.1 Acquisition Strategy
 Design-bid-build acquisitions too often follow a simple acquisition strategy template: Complete design 
specs/drawings, followed by lump sum contracts and a selection process driven primarily by low price. This 
template does not fit design-build well, and there is no single approach that does. Each design-build acquisition 
demands its own strategy, derived from market and project conditions. 

 The surest way to produce poor results with design-build is to attempt to use design-bid-build 
techniques and approaches. The best way to maximize the likelihood of successful design-build project delivery 
is to create an acquisition strategy that concentrates on the three elements shown below and is guided and 
influenced by market research and risk assessment.

DBIA considers the most effective design-build model to comprise the three integrated elements shown below.

1. Pick the right
Design-Build team

2.  Give them

opportunity to
succeed &
accountability

3.  Reward them
for performing to

 

your satisfaction

REQUIREMENTS
-  Performance-based
-  Flexible

SOURCE SELECTION

-  Reliant on past 
    performance
-  Assesses cost realism

CONTRACT INCENTIVE
-  Focuses on non-cost
    performance

Figure 1.  The DBIA Design-Build Model

This chapter explores the requirements element of this integrated model. The role of the other two elements 
in the integrated strategy is briefly discussed below.

Source Selection. Selecting the design-build team is one of the most important decisions an owner 
makes. Even a perfect contract or highly collaborative owner rarely compensates for the “wrong” design-
build team. However, the right design-build team can overcome many difficulties during project execution. 
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project manager and A/E 1 to reconsider their project delivery approach.

 Readers are encouraged to follow the guidance in this chapter to help mitigate stakeholder concerns 
and thereby minimize prescriptive content. It’s important to understand, however, that if some aspects of 
the project requirements truly are prescriptive, the RFP must communicate that information clearly to the 
competitors. In other words, it’s not a best practice to have substantive prescriptive content in a design-build 
project, but it’s also not a best practice to conceal from competitors that only one solution will be acceptable.

3.0 Best Practices
3.1. Requirements Development.
Figure 4  below depicts the team members and activities related to the development of requirements over the 
course of the two-phase best value competition. These activities are discussed in detail in this section.

Figure 4. Requirements Development in Phase One of the Best Value Competitive Process

 

Team

Req’ts
•Seeking to 
understand goals, 
constraints, 
problems

•Working to determine 
facility performance 
requirements

•During design 
phase, A/E2 
determines design 
solution with 
input/insight from 
rest of team

Stakeholders Phase I  RFQ/
Source Selection

Phase I I/RFP
Source Selection

Stakeholders + Final Integrated
Product Team

•Team formed early-
-owner, tenant reps, 
users, project 
manager, A/E1, 
others

•Team expanded to 
include input from 
Phase I successful 
offerors

•Final team includes 
successful offeror

BEST PRACTICE

PROJECT REQUIREMENTS AND DESIGN BUILD 
TEAM PROCUREMENT 



BEST PRACTICE
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As the group agrees on the probability and impact of each brainstormed risk, it should be plotted on a matrix 
like the one shown in Figure 11 below.  Each 2-character identifier represents one risk.  For example, “1A” is 
the first risk brainstormed against the first functional requirement, and this group of stakeholders agreed that 
is has a probability of occurrence of “2,” and a severe impact on the project if it does occur.     

Figure 11.  Risk Assessment Matrix

 Analyzing and Using the Results.  Risks in the upper right hand quadrant of the resulting 
matrix pose the greatest threat to the project—they’re likely to occur and they’ll have a serious impact if 
they do.  However, some analysis is required at this point.  The participants need to determine which risks 
it wants to include in the highest priority grouping.  For purposes of illustration, the red circle in Figure 10 
depicts the risks that the group may determine need to be aggressively managed.  In our example, Functional 
Requirements 5 and 2 have risks that pose many of the most serious threats, but different groups may come 
to different conclusions.  In other words, the group may look just to the left or just below the upper right 
hand quadrant and see other risks that are related and should be aggressively managed as well.  Some 
groups break the matrix into diagonal bands, with “red” or high priority risks in the upper right, “yellow,” or 
significant threats in the middle, and “green,” or low threats in the lower left.  In this way, it’s easy to visually 
relate specific risks to appropriate levels of required attention and monitoring.  

4A, 4B3C1

1C, 5A, 
5B

3E, 5E2

5D, 3A, 
3D

2D1B, 5F2C, 3B3

2F, 2G2A, 2E4

5G, 2B5C1A, 3F5

54321

4A, 4B3C1

1C, 5A, 
5B

3E, 5E2

5D, 3A, 
3D

2D1B, 5F2C, 3B3

2F, 2G2A, 2E4

5G, 2B5C1A, 3F5

54321

Probability

Unlikely                                              Certain   

I
m
p
a
c
t

Severe

Minor

USING RISK TO PRIORITIZE FUNCTIONAL  REQUIREMENTS 

Functional Requirement 1 
Aesthetics compatibility with 
historic features of surrounding 
neighborhood
Risk
1A. If the fine arts commission 
disapproves exterior design, 
redesign may be required
1B. If limestone to match 
surrounding facades is not 
available, project may be delayed
1C. Etc.

Functional Requirement 2 
Etc.

Example from the Guidelines



� Rapid or fast
� Etc.
� Some
� Another
� Too
� May
� Clearly

� Most
� Flexible
� High fidelity
� Adaptable
� Adequate
� User friendly
� Support

� Maximize
� Minimize
� And/or
� Easy
� Sufficient
� Adequate
� Quick

BEST PRACTICE

VAGUE AND UNCLEAR REQUIREMENTS TO AVOID



WRAP-UP
� After Award, the performance requirements 

document is the baseline against which 
acceptable contract performance is 
measured. 

� Owner must establish the performance 
requirements as the minimum, with any 
proposed betterments taking precedence. 

� It’s the design-builder’s responsibility to 
achieve the level of required performance. 

� It’s the owner’s responsibility to have set 
that required level of performance 

� It’s the owner’s responsibility to establish 
(and budget for) industry-accepted means 
of testing and inspection to validate 
requested performance is achieved by the 
Design Builder

REQUIREMENTS IN RFP MUST  BE:

BEST PRACTICE


